RECEIVED

Jul 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In The Court of Common Pleas,
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
The Hon. Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-23-04092 / Case No. 2022-CP-23-01310
Ct. App. Case No. 2025-001630

Sealevel Systems, Inc.Appellant,

v.

CreatiVasc Medical, Inc., DiaxaMed, LLC,
successor in interest to Brookhaven Vascular, Inc.,
successor in interest to Brookhaven Merger Corp.,
successor in interest to CreatiVasc Medical, Inc.,.....Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC
Ainsley F. Tillman
Robert E. Byrd
715 King Street

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err as a matter of law as to contract formation when it granted judgment notwithstanding the verdict?
- II. Did the trial court wrongly grant judgment notwithstanding the verdict when there is ample evidence in the record supporting the jury's verdict?
- III. Alternatively, did the trial court err by directing a verdict in Respondents' favor on Sealevel's claim for quantum meruit?
- IV. Alternatively, did the trial court err by denying Sealevel relief under the doctrine of promissory estoppel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a Supply Agreement between two commercial parties, for the purchase by Respondent CreatiVasc Medical, Inc. (“CreatiVasc”) of a highly-specialized, complex, component part of a kidney dialysis system. Appellant Sealevel Systems, Inc. (“Sealevel”) developed and made the part, pursuant to specifications by certain Respondents. But things fell apart when, after ordering the part, Respondent CreatiVasc merged itself out of existence. CreatiVasc did this without telling Sealevel, which carried on with development and production of the specialized part. CreatiVasc’s successors, Respondents Brookhaven Merger Corp. (“Brookhaven Merger”), Brookhaven Vascular, Inc. (“Brookhaven Vascular”), and DiaxaMed, LLC (“DiaxaMed”)—all of which may or may not have been (and still be) carrying on with the dialysis system using Sealevel’s protected proprietary information—promptly disclaimed all responsibility for Sealevel’s invoices and all liability under the Supply Agreement.

After a three-day trial, including testimony and more than twenty exhibits, the jury found in favor of Sealevel on its claims for breach of contract against CreatiVasc and Brookhaven. It also found in favor of Sealevel on its claim for tortious interference with contract against DiaxaMed. The jury awarded damages, including punitive damages.

The trial court wrongly set aside the jury’s verdict, despite voluminous evidence supporting it.

I. Factual Background

Tom O’Hanlan (“T. O’Hanlan”) and his wife founded Sealevel in the late 1980s. (R. p. 245, lines 10–18). Sealevel and its team of engineers develop and make electronics,

motors, and mechanics. (R. p. 189, line 24–p. 190, line 1; R. p. 728 (“We are a 28 year old upstate company that designs and manufactures complex electronic systems for the military and Fortune 500. We have a new \$2mm assembly line and some very good engineers.”)).

In September of 2014, a third party introduced Sealevel, by way of T. O’Hanlan, to Steve Johnson (“Johnson”), an executive with Respondent CreatiVasc, via email. (R. p. 248, lines 14–23; *see also* R. pp. 728–29). At the time, CreatiVasc was looking for a company to make a component part of its implanted hemodialysis system, known as the CreatiVasc Hemoaccess Valve System® (the “System”). It explained, “We have discovered distant manufacturers but would ideally like to keep it in SC if at all possible.” (R. pp. 729–30). Johnson became Sealevel’s primary contact at CreatiVasc. (*e.g.* R. pp. 724–32, 764–66).

On October 28, 2014, Sealevel and CreatiVasc each executed the Customer Supply Agreement, as amended on April 10, 2015, and again on March 9, 2016 (the “Supply Agreement”). (R. p. 253, lines 9–17; *see also* R. pp. 736–51, 775–77; *see also* R. p. 36, ¶1; R. p. 41, ¶ 27–29; R. p. 42, ¶ 34; R. p. 43, ¶ 38; *see also* R. pp. 46–47, ¶ 2; R. p. 50, ¶ 23; R. p. 51, ¶¶ 28, 31; R. p. 52, ¶ 34). The thrust of the Supply Agreement was that “[CreatiVasc] desires to have Sealevel design and manufacture the motor control and valve monitor electronics (both hardware and software) for use in the CreatiVasc Hemoaccess Valve System®.” (R. p. 737, ¶ A). The Supply Agreement contains general contractual provisions, including confidentiality obligations, indemnification provisions, and a limitation of liability in Sealevel’s favor. (R. pp. 736–51).

Thus, the Supply Agreement set forth the parties' agreement that CreatiVasc desired to have Sealevel design, produce, and deliver a complex mechanism component for inclusion in CreatiVasc's patented and trademarked kidney dialysis System, which Sealevel would sell to CreatiVasc, and CreatiVasc would buy from Sealevel. (R. p. 737, ¶ A, § 1). Importantly, pursuant to the Supply Agreement, the parties agreed Sealevel would "design, manufacture, sell, and deliver," and would be the exclusive supplier of, certain specialized "hardware and software (the 'Product') used in [CreatiVasc's] System's handheld actuator" to CreatiVasc. (R. p. 36, ¶ 1; *see also* R. p. 737 § 1).

To create the Product, intended by CreatiVasc to be a handheld device providing certain functions to the "System" belonging to CreatiVasc, Sealevel needed to design and construct the electronics, motor, and mechanics of the Product. (R. p. 189, line 20–p. 190, line 1; R. p. 195, lines 3–18; *see also* R. p. 737, § 1). The Supply Agreement protected the proprietary nature of Sealevel's design work, and the inherent value of that work, under the Agreement's Section captioned "Confidential Information." (R. p. 741, § 14). This Section prevented CreatiVasc from disclosing "any technical or other information" to "any third party." (*Id.*). It also prohibited CreatiVasc from "us[ing] such information for its own benefit except for the purposes of this Agreement." (*Id.*). This Section is clear that CreatiVasc's obligations regarding Sealevel's proprietary information "shall survive the termination of this Agreement for a period of five (5) years." (*Id.*).

Meanwhile, unbeknownst to Sealevel, shortly after the parties executed the Supply Agreement, CreatiVasc began to undergo certain mergers and acquisitions activity. First, on March 10, 2015, CreatiVasc merged with Brookhaven Merger Corp. ("Brookhaven

Merger”) in a transaction valued at \$23,957,996.00. (R. p. 404, lines 7–17; *see also* R. pp. 805–73). John Feltman (“Feltman”), an executive with Brookhaven Medical, Inc. (“Brookhaven Medical”), partially led this transaction, recognizing that CreatiVasc needed more funds to develop the System. (R. p. 468, line 18–p. 469, line 3; R. p. 469, line 18–p. 470, line 2). Feltman and Brookhaven Medical allowed CreatiVasc and Steve Johnson to continue to perform under the Supply Agreement, and to continue to develop CreatiVasc’s System. (R. pp. 403–05; R. p. 421, lines 6–12; R. p. 473, line 21–p. 475, line 8). Documents of merger filed with the S.C. Secretary of State indicated that all “material contracts” were disclosed in Schedule 4.08, including all contracts “to purchase total requirements of any product or service from a third party,” such as the Supply Agreement. (R. p. 832, § 4.08). The Supply Agreement remained intact following this merger; one month after the merger, CreatiVasc and Sealevel entered into the First Amendment to the Supply Agreement on April 10, 2015. (R. p. 421, lines 6–12; R. p. 473, line 21–p. 475, line 8; R. pp. 764–66; R. p. 41, ¶ 28).

In early 2016, CreatiVasc ordered six (6) of the Products from Sealevel. (R. p. 231, line 8–p. 234, line 18; R. p. 268, lines 7–11; R. p. 355, lines 13–15; R. p. 450, lines 20–22; *see also* R. pp. 767–74). On February 15, 2016, CreatiVasc provided Sealevel with detailed specifications and design requirements for the “HemoAccess Valve System (HVS) Handheld” (the Product). (R. pp. 767–70). On March 9, 2016, the parties entered into a Second Amendment to the Supply Agreement. (R. pp. 775–77). Sealevel continued to work on manufacturing the Products to CreatiVasc’s specifications, which was a costly and time-consuming endeavor; it ultimately made a workable Product for CreatiVasc.

(R. p. 39, ¶ 17; *see also* R. pp. 736–51; R. pp. 802–04; *see also* R. p. 192, lines 3–10, 12–17; R. p. 193, lines 15–19; R. p. 262, line 25–p. 263, line 5; R. p. 266, lines 7–25; R. p. 268, lines 15–22; R. p. 291, lines 15–20; R. p. 292, line 1–p. 297, line 1; R. p. 377, line 25–p. 378, line 12). CreatiVasc made a \$10,000 advance payment on its order for the Products. (R. pp. 803–04).

Subsequently, on June 1, 2016, CreatiVasc changed its name to Brookhaven Vascular, Inc. (“Brookhaven Vascular”). (R. p. 409, lines 11–15). To make a long story somewhat shorter, it was ultimately undisputed that the Brookhaven entities are the successors-in-interest to CreatiVasc. (R. p. 20, n. 14).

Meanwhile, during the same time period (*i.e.* 2015–2016), CreatiVasc and Brookhaven were working with a company called ATEX Technologies, Inc. (“ATEX”) on another, different component part of the CreatiVasc HemoAccess Valve System (or a similar iteration of the System). (R. pp. 752–58, 764–66). In fact, ATEX had a separate supply agreement with CreatiVasc, dated after Sealevel and CreatiVasc’s Supply Agreement, also related to the System (or a similar iteration of the System). (R. p. 752–58; R. pp. 483, line 23–p. 484, line 20).

A fellow by the name of Brian McMurray (“McMurray”) was the President of ATEX. (R. p. 483, line 3–p. 484, line 20). Later, McMurray formed a new company, called DiaxaMed, LLC (“DiaxaMed”). DiaxaMed was formed to acquire Brookhaven Vascular’s assets. (R. p. 448, lines 18–21; R. p. 480, lines 4–6; R. p. 486, lines 6–9). McMurray already had a working relationship with CreatiVasc, including through ATEX’s separate supply agreement also related to the System (or a similar iteration of the System). (R. pp. 752–

58; R. p. 483, line 23–p. 484, line 20). McMurray also had a working relationship with Brookhaven Medical as Brookhaven Medical’s largest investor and an advisor on its Board. (R. p. 465, lines 21–24).

Ultimately, on December 30, 2016, DiaxaMed did purchase all of Brookhaven Vascular’s assets; however, DiaxaMed claimed that it did not assume the obligations in the Supply Agreement. (R. pp. 778–91; *see also* R. p. 494, line 25–p. 495, line 9). In fact, despite DiaxaMed and its attorneys conducting due diligence on Brookhaven Vascular prior to purchasing its assets, and despite McMurray’s long involvement with both CreatiVasc and Brookhaven Medical, McMurray and DiaxaMed nonetheless declared that they did not know much, if anything, about Sealevel or the Supply Agreement. (R. p. 489, line 13–p. 490, line 10; R. p. 492, line 14–p. 493, line 12). Pertinently, DiaxaMed structured the acquisition such to take all assets and liabilities of CreatiVasc, *except* the Supply Agreement, of which it maintained it had no knowledge. (R. pp. 778–91).

Apparently, at some point during this period of myriad transactional activity, CreatiVasc/Brookhaven Vascular decided to cease efforts to develop the System in such a way that it would need the Product. (R. p. 238, line 22–p. 239, line 5; R. p. 394, line 14–p. 395, line 4, R. p. 470, lines 7–21; R. p. 476, lines 7–19). **But CreatiVasc/Brookhaven Vascular never told Sealevel about this decision.** (R. p. 268, lines 5–22). Consequently, Sealevel continued to expend significant effort, time, and money, working to make the Products that CreatiVasc had ordered, in accordance with the specifications CreatiVasc required — while CreatiVasc/Brookhaven Vascular, and/or DiaxaMed, no longer intended to develop, market, and sell the System of which the Product would be a

component. (R. p. 39, ¶ 17).

In the midst of 2016, Sealevel contacted CreatiVasc to let it know it had the Product available for delivery. (R. p. 268, lines 5–9). But, during this period of time, CreatiVasc went silent; CreatiVasc would not communicate at all with Sealevel. (R. p. 268, lines 5–22) (“So, we got ghosted. We got -- we got whatever you call it. Just ghosted. No answer. Nobody would take our calls.”).

Then, on January 12, 2017, Steve Johnson emailed T. O’Hanlan and Ben O’Hanlan (the then-President of Sealevel), stating that “CreatiVasc and Brookhaven Vascular are no more.” (R. p. 795). At that time, Johnson was working for DiaxaMed, which had recently acquired Brookhaven Vascular. (*Id.*; *see also* R. pp. 778–91; R. p. 494, line 25–p. 495, line 9). Significantly, at the same time, Johnson also signed an Asset Protection Agreement with DiaxaMed that contained a non-disparagement provision. (R. p. 413, line 18–p. 415, line 1; R. pp. 792–93). At trial, Johnson testified that because of the non-disparagement agreement, he was cautious and concerned about anything he said about the merger. Johnson stated he “did not want to be seen in any way as being contrary to what was in the non-disparagement agreement,” and he “was also careful not to say anything negative about the parties.” (R. p. 414, lines 5–22)

At no point did either CreatiVasc or Sealevel terminate the Supply Agreement, which in any event required “mutual written agreement” for termination. (R. p. 739, § 12; *see also* R. p. 429, lines 11–13). At no point did CreatiVasc seek consent from Sealevel to disclose “any technical information or other information exchanged by the Parties during this Agreement;” but the Supply Agreement required CreatiVasc to keep all such

information “whether written, oral, *computer based* or otherwise” confidential. (R. p. 741, § 14(a)) (emphasis added).

After DiaxaMed took over, Steve Johnson continued to communicate with Sealevel, using a CreatiVasc email address with a DiaxaMed signature block. (R. p. 795). But on March 30, 2017, DiaxaMed terminated Johnson’s employment. (R. p. 403, line 19-p. 404, line 4). As part of the termination, DiaxaMed required Johnson to surrender his laptop and flash drives, which contained Sealevel’s proprietary and confidential information, to DiaxaMed. (R. p. 403, line 19-p. 404, line 4; R. p. 428, lines 15–19). Significantly, Johnson remains obligated to DiaxaMed under the non-disparagement agreement (“NDA”). (R. p. 403, line 19-p. 404, line 4; R. p. 413, line 18–p. 414, line 9).

Sealevel, however, was kept in the dark about all of this corporate activity. (R. p. 268, lines 5–22).

On June 26, 2017, Sealevel sent a letter with an invoice in the amount of \$321,540.00 to CreatiVasc, which reflected the \$10,000 advance payment previously made by CreatiVasc. (R. pp. 802–04). This invoice conservatively estimated the cost to make the Products as ordered, with specifications, by CreatiVasc, including, Sealevel’s time and expenses for designing and manufacturing the Product. (R. p. 192, lines 3–10; R. p. 291, lines 15–20; R. p. 292, line 1–p. 297, line 1; R. p. 377, line 25–p. 378, line 12). In response to the invoice, an attorney on behalf of Brookhaven Medical (owned at the time by DiaxaMed) denied any liability for the invoice. (R. pp. 797–98). Remarkably, although the attorney referred in the letter to “discussions with Steve Johnson,” the attorney stated that “CreatiVasc . . . does not have a copy of any purported supply agreement supporting

the invoice.” (*Id.*).

Respondents refused to pay any portion of the invoice, beyond CreatiVasc’s initial deposit of \$10,000. (R. p. 192, lines 11–17; *see also* R. pp. 797–98).

Now, DiaxaMed continues to attempt to develop hemodialysis products like the System (or a similar iteration of the System), having preserved for itself the opportunity to take the entirety of CreatiVasc’s Hemoaccess Valve System®. Diaxamed has also enabled itself to develop a Product similar to the device already developed by Sealevel, because it has the benefit of Sealevel’s proprietary information that is now in DiaxaMed’s possession. (R. p. 403, line 19–p. 404, line 4; R. p. 428, lines 15–19; R. p. 486, lines 10–12; R. p. 487, lines 6–8). CreatiVasc and Brookhaven Vascular no longer exist, but Brookhaven Medical, which was the parent company of CreatiVasc/Brookhaven Vascular after the merger, remains alive as a shell entity. (R. p. 470, lines 7–21).

II. Procedural History

Plaintiff/Appellant Sealevel Systems, Inc. (“Sealevel”) filed its Summons and Complaint on August 2, 2018, alleging five causes of action: (1) Declaratory Judgment as to Sealevel’s rights under the Supply Agreement; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Intentional Interference with Contract; (4) in the alternative, Quantum Meruit; and (5) in the alternative, Promissory Estoppel. (R. pp. 36–45). Sealevel brought these claims against Defendants CreatiVasc Medical, Inc. (“CreatiVasc”), DiaxaMed, LLC (“DiaxaMed”), Brookhaven Vascular, Inc. (“Brookhaven Vascular”), Brookhaven Merger Corp. (“Brookhaven Merger Corp.”), John D. Feltman (“Feltman”), and James S. (“Steve”) Johnson (“Johnson”) (collectively, “Defendants”). (*See id.*). Sealevel demanded a jury

trial in its Complaint. (*Id.*)

All Defendants filed their Answer on October 12, 2018. (R. pp. 46–54). Among other things, Defendants admitted that the Supply Agreement was a valid and binding contract. (R. p. 51, ¶ 28) (“Defendants admit that the Customer Supply Agreement was a valid and binding contract at the time the parties entered into such agreement.”). Defendants also demanded trial by jury. (R. p. 46).

On March 9, 2021, the Court entered a Consent Order of Dismissal Pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCP. (R. pp. 1–3). By Order dated March 10, 2022, the case was restored to the common pleas docket. (R. pp. 4–5).

Defendants moved for summary judgment on October 3, 2023. (R. pp. 55–74). In their motion, Defendants argued: (1) Sealevel’s claim for breach of contract should fail because the Supply Agreement failed to establish a meeting of the minds, rendering it unenforceable; (2) Sealevel’s claim for intentional interference with contract should fail because the parties lacked an enforceable contract; (3) even if the parties had an enforceable contract, Defendants had not breached that agreement or suffered damages recoverable under the agreement; and (4) Sealevel’s alternative claims for promissory estoppel and quantum meruit should fail because Sealevel had not conferred any benefit on Defendants, nor had Sealevel suffered any injury. (*Id.*).

On November 30, 2023, the Court denied Defendants’ summary judgment motion in its entirety, ruling that “there is a genuine issue of material fact in the matter *requiring submission to a jury.*” (emphasis added). (R. pp. 6–8).

The trial court called this case for jury trial beginning February 11, 2025, and

concluding February 13, 2025. (R. pp. 134–654). At trial, Sealevel elicited testimony generating conflicting evidence from various fact witnesses, including: Ben O’Hanlan, former President of Sealevel; Dr. David Cull¹, an early inventor of and visionary for part of the device at issue; Chad Clark, former engineer with CreatiVasc, Brookhaven Vascular/Brookhaven Merger Corp., and DiaxaMed; Tom O’Hanlan, founder of Sealevel; Savannah Forrester, former engineer for DiaxaMed; Steve Johnson, former executive for CreatiVasc, Brookhaven Vascular/Brookhaven Merger Corp., and DiaxaMed; John Feltman, executive for Brookhaven Vascular/Brookhaven Merger Corp.; and Brian McMurray, executive for DiaxaMed. (R. pp. 188–649).

After Sealevel rested its case, Sealevel moved for a directed verdict as to its request that the trial court declare the Supply Agreement exists and is ongoing. (R. p. 501, lines 18–20). Defendants moved for a directed verdict on each of Sealevel’s causes of action, arguing the judge need not send the case to the jury because: (1) the Supply Agreement is not enforceable; (2) even if the Supply Agreement is enforceable, no evidence indicated Defendants breached it; (3) no evidence indicated Sealevel had suffered any damages; (4) without a breach of a valid agreement, intentional interference with contract fails, and even if the Supply Agreement is enforceable, no evidence showed any of the Defendants intentionally procured its breach; and (5) no evidence showed Sealevel conferred any benefit on Defendants, or that Defendants realized any benefit, or that Defendants made any unambiguous promise to Sealevel, so Sealevel’s claims for quantum meruit and promissory estoppel must fail. (R. p. 502, line 18–p. 508, line 22). Additionally, at the

¹ In the transcript, Dr. Cull’s name is misspelled “Cole.”

directed verdict stage, Sealevel withdrew its claims against Feltman and Johnson. (R. p. 535, lines 2-6; R. pp. 9-11). And at this stage, the trial court limited Sealevel's (i) breach of contract claim to CreatiVasc, Brookhaven Vascular, and Brookhaven Merger Corp., and (ii) intentional interference with a contract claim to DiaxaMed. (R. p. 541, line 9-p. 543, line 2).

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