THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
Jul 27 2026
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-23-01310
Appellate Case No. 2025-001630

Sealevel Systems, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

CreatiVasc Medical, Inc., Diaxamed, LLC, successor in interest to
Brookhaven Vascular Inc., successor in interest to Brookhaven
Merger Corp, successor in interest to CreatiVasc Medical, Inc.,

Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS CREATIVASC MEDICAL, INC. AND BROOKHAVEN
VASCULAR INC., SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO BROOKHAVEN MERGER CORP.,
SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO CREATIVASC MEDICAL, INC.

ADAMS & REESE LLP

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

to purchase from Sealevel if and when the System went to market. The System never went to market. No one breached an obligation to purchase a product that was never commercially viable.

Appellant attempts to reframe the breach as CreatiVasc's failure to pay for six prototypes allegedly "ordered" in early 2016. (Appellant's Initial Br. 28-29). But the record does not support this characterization. The February 2016 communications from CreatiVasc to Sealevel were requests for a quote and discussions of specifications and design requirements that were part of the ongoing collaborative development process, and not binding purchase orders under the Supply Agreement. (R. at 767-74.) As established above, the Supply Agreement's purchase-order process required separate written Purchase Orders specifying "the dates and quantities of the Product to be delivered and the current price for the Product." (R. at 737 § 3). No such formal Purchase Orders were ever issued, and no price was ever agreed upon for the Product. Without an agreed price, there can be no binding purchase order and no obligation to pay.

Significantly, Sealevel never shipped or delivered any Product. Under the terms of the Supply Agreement, title to the Product passes only upon shipment pursuant to a Purchase Order; thus, no title ever passed to any Respondent. (R. at 738 § 7.) The Supply Agreement likewise makes clear that any payment obligation is contingent upon shipment. Sealevel may issue an invoice only "[o]n or after shipment of Product to [CreatiVasc] *under a Purchase Order*," and payment is not due until thirty days "from the date of shipment or the date of Invoice, *whichever is later*." (R. at 738 § 4.) Because no Purchase Order was made, and because no Product was ever shipped, none of the contractual conditions precedent to payment have been satisfied. Accordingly, no payment obligation arose, and CreatiVasc cannot be in breach.

Appellant also argues that CreatiVasc's failure to formally terminate the Supply Agreement constitutes a breach. (Appellant's Initial Br. 31). This argument conflates the absence of

termination with the presence of breach. The fact that neither party invoked the termination provision does not mean that one party breached the Agreement. The Agreement can remain in existence without any breach occurring. Indeed, both parties' counsel acknowledged at trial that the Agreement has never been terminated. (R. at 429:11-13, 606:14-22). This is entirely consistent with the Supply Agreement's nature as a framework that was never activated by a commercially viable product.

Appellant further argues that there was evidence of a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (Appellant's Initial Br. 30-31). But the implied covenant cannot be used to create contractual obligations that do not exist. Under South Carolina law, the covenant of good faith and fair dealing is "merely another term of the contract at issue." *RoTec Servs., Inc. v. Encompass Servs., Inc.*, 359 S.C. 467, 472, 597 S.E.2d 881, 884 (2004) (citation omitted). If the contract itself imposes no obligation on CreatiVasc to purchase the Product at a particular time or price, the covenant of good faith cannot be used to manufacture such an obligation. "[T]he implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is not an independent cause of action separate from the claim for breach of contract." *Id.* at 473, 597 S.E.2d at 884. The duty of good faith does not require a party to continue a collaborative venture indefinitely, particularly when the underlying technology has proven commercially unfeasible.

Crucially, Sealevel's claim that CreatiVasc breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing rests on the assertion that Respondents "concealed their mergers from Sealevel." (Appellant's Initial Br. 30.) But the Supply Agreement expressly permits the very conduct Sealevel now characterizes as bad faith. It provides that "any Party may, without consent, assign this Agreement in connection with the transfer or sale of all or substantially all of its business, or in the event of its merger, consolidation, change in control or other similar transaction." (R. at 743

¶ 24.) That is precisely what occurred here. And contrary to any suggestion of a nefarious purpose, the uncontradicted testimony establishes that Respondents’ restructurings were necessitated by CreatiVasc repeatedly running out of funds while attempting to develop the System. (R. at 214:18-24, 443:4-7, 448:7-21, 468:18-469:3, 476:7-19, 479:18-24.)

Finally, Sealevel’s argument that CreatiVasc breached the Confidentiality provision of the Supply Agreement (Appellant’s Initial Br. 31-32) was, as the trial court correctly found, entirely unsupported by the evidence. The only testimony on this point was that Steve Johnson was required to turn over his laptop and other storage media to DiaxaMed when he was terminated. (R. at 403:19-404:4.) But there was no testimony about what those devices contained, how the devices were stored or treated, or whether those devices were ever accessed, and no evidence whatsoever that CreatiVasc or any other party actually disclosed Sealevel’s confidential information to a third party. (R. at 21-22.) Appellant’s theory of a confidentiality breach rests entirely on speculation and inference-stacking, which is precisely the kind of conjecture that cannot support a jury verdict. *See Small*, 329 S.C. at 461, 494 S.E.2d at 841.

B. Sealevel Has No Evidence of Recoverable Damages.

Even if an enforceable contract existed and was breached, which Respondents deny, the JNOV must be affirmed because Sealevel presented no cognizable evidence of damages.

i. The Supply Agreement Contains No Provision Authorizing Recovery of Engineering Costs.

Section 3 of the Supply Agreement, titled “Purchase Orders; Price,” expressly defines the exclusive mechanism by which prices were to be established and payments triggered. It provides: “Orders for the Product shall be made by Customer by written or electronic orders *issued by Customer* to Sealevel substantially in the form of Exhibit B . . . (each such order, a ‘Purchase Order’). The Purchase Order shall specify the dates and quantities of Product to be delivered *and*

the current price for the Product. The price for the Product will be agreed upon in writing by the Parties and may not be changed except as agreed upon in writing by the Parties.” (R. at 737 § 3.) Section 4, in turn, ties payment exclusively to the shipment of finished goods: “On or after shipment of Product to Customer under a Purchase Order, Sealevel shall issue an invoice in the form of Exhibit C to Customer” (R. at 738 § 4.) Read together, these provisions establish an unbroken chain of prerequisites to any payment obligation: (1) the parties must first agree on a price in writing; (2) CreatiVasc must then issue a Purchase Order specifying dates, quantities, and the agreed price; (3) Sealevel must manufacture and ship the Product; and (4) only then may Sealevel issue an invoice, with payment due thirty days later. None of these prerequisites was ever satisfied. No price was ever agreed upon in writing. No Purchase Order was ever issued. No Product was ever shipped. The Supply Agreement simply does not contemplate, and does not authorize, billing for engineering and development time incurred before any of these conditions are met.

The only evidence of damages that Sealevel presented at trial was a single invoice for \$321,540.00, representing a retrospective estimate of engineering and development time. (R. at 803-04; R. at 22.) But the Supply Agreement contains no provision authorizing Sealevel to bill CreatiVasc for research and development expenses. This was established repeatedly and conclusively at trial.

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Tom O’Hanlan: “You would agree with me that Exhibit 4 does not contain any provisions requiring CreatiVasc to pay Sealevel for its engineering time.” O’Hanlan was then impeached with his deposition testimony, in which he admitted: “I would agree with that as stated, but the contract does provide for the exclusive rights to manufacture the product. So that’s how a lot of companies make their money is you forego the

front-end cost in exchange for the manufacturing rights in anticipation that it's going to be a high volume, a profitable venture.” (R. at 373:14-374:7.) This admission is fatal to Sealevel's damages claim. O'Hanlan acknowledged that (1) the Supply Agreement does not require CreatiVasc to pay for engineering time, and (2) Sealevel's business model was to “forego the front-end cost” in exchange for future manufacturing profits. When those profits failed to materialize, because the underlying technology never succeeded, Sealevel cannot retroactively transform its speculative investment into a damages claim.

Moreover, the Supply Agreement provides a remedy provision in the event of breach or termination by CreatiVasc, stating that CreatiVasc must “take delivery of and pay the full price for the remainder of open Purchase Orders (if any).” (R. at 739 § 12(b)). No formal Purchase Orders were ever issued, and no price was ever agreed upon. Sealevel's damages under the express terms of the Agreement are therefore zero.

ii. The Invoice Was Not a Proper Measure of Damages.

Sealevel argues that the invoice reflects “the cost of the Product” rather than mere engineering time. (Appellant's Initial Br. 34-37.) This characterization is contradicted by the record. The invoice was, by O'Hanlan's own admission, not a genuine demand for payment under the Supply Agreement but rather an attempt to get CreatiVasc's attention after communications had ceased. (R. at 372:19-24.) The JNOV Order correctly characterized the invoice as “nothing more than a retrospective tally of engineering and development time that Sealevel devoted to the project.” (R. at 24.)

Moreover, the trial court correctly observed that “it is undisputed that Sealevel would have incurred these same developmental costs regardless of whether the project was successful or not.” (R. at 24.) Both Sealevel and CreatiVasc expended hundreds of hours trying to develop a product

that worked. Sealevel focused on the external actuator; CreatiVasc focused on the internal components. The collaboration was a shared speculative venture. When such a venture fails, neither party is entitled to bill the other for its sunk costs, particularly when the agreement between them contemplated no such billing arrangement.

Sealevel criticizes the JNOV Order for overlooking that the invoice contains a line item for “Material Costs” of \$23,290. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 36). But even if one were to isolate this line item, it does not establish damages under the Supply Agreement. The Agreement contains no provision entitling Sealevel to reimbursement for material costs incurred during the development process. And in any event, the existence of a \$23,290 material cost line item on an invoice that the jury used to award \$321,540 in damages (the exact amount of the entire invoice) underscores that the jury simply adopted Sealevel’s invoice wholesale, without any analysis of what damages, if any, were actually recoverable under the Supply Agreement.

The jury’s confusion on the issue of damages was further laid bare by its own deliberation notes. During deliberations, the jury submitted a written question to the trial court asking: “Do we have to have an actual amount for damages in question to the actual damages or can we state all attorney’s fees, court costs, and associated fees? If not, what is the Plaintiff’s actual fees from above?” (R. at 649:17-20; R. at 1009.) This question is revealing. The jury was actively searching for a damages figure beyond what was in the record and was even contemplating awarding attorney’s fees and court costs, neither of which was supported by any evidence or authorized by any provision of the Supply Agreement. The jury’s evident struggle to identify a cognizable measure of damages, and its resort to asking whether it could award items entirely outside the record, underscores the trial court’s finding that the evidence was legally insufficient to support the damages verdict.

The illusory nature of Sealevel's purported damages can be further demonstrated by considering if CreatiVasc had ceased all communications with Sealevel six months earlier, before the February 2016 quote request and before any prototype was even discussed. Sealevel's theory of the case would still entitle it to recover the exact same category of "damages": a retrospective tally of its own engineering time and material costs. That is because Sealevel's damages claim is entirely untethered from any contractual obligation to pay. The Supply Agreement contains no milestone payments, no development-fee schedule, and no provision requiring CreatiVasc to reimburse Sealevel's engineering costs at any stage. Under Sealevel's theory, the mere act of performing engineering work gives rise to a damages claim whenever the other party stops communicating, regardless of whether any product was ordered, any price was agreed upon, or any goods were shipped. This is not a measure of damages recognized by law; it is a request that the court rewrite the parties' agreement to include an obligation that the parties themselves chose not to include. The trial court correctly rejected this approach.

iii. The UCC Does Not Cure the Issues with Sealevel's Damages.

Appellant argues that the JNOV Order erroneously cited S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-715 (governing buyer's incidental and consequential damages) when it should have cited S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-710 (governing seller's incidental damages). (Appellant's Initial Br. 37-38.) Even if this is a scrivener's error in the citation, it does not affect the outcome. Under either provision, Sealevel's engineering and development costs are not recoverable.

Section 36-2-710 defines a seller's incidental damages as "any commercially reasonable charges, expenses or commissions incurred in stopping delivery, in the transportation, care and custody of goods after the buyer's breach, in connection with return or resale of the goods or otherwise *resulting from the breach.*" (Emphasis added.) Sealevel's engineering costs were

incurred in the speculative development of a product that never reached commercial viability, not in response to any breach.

The fundamental deficiency in Sealevel's damages theory is that the costs it seeks to recover do not flow from any alleged breach. Both Section 36-2-708 (governing seller's damages for non-acceptance or repudiation) and Section 36-2-710 (governing seller's incidental damages) require that recoverable damages be "resulting from the breach." S.C. Code Ann. §§ 36-2-708(2), 36-2-710. This causation requirement is a bedrock principle: under South Carolina law, "[t]he purpose of an award of damages for breach of contract is to put the plaintiff in as good a position as he would have been in if the contract had been performed." *Minter v. GOCT, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 525, 528, 473 S.E.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 1996). Sealevel's engineering and development costs were not caused by any breach. They were incurred in the ordinary course of the parties' collaborative development effort. As the trial court correctly observed, "Sealevel would have incurred these same developmental costs regardless of whether the project was successful or not." (R. at 24.) Because Sealevel's claimed damages are pre-breach development costs that bear no causal relationship to any alleged breach, rather than damages "resulting from the breach" as the UCC requires, they are not recoverable under any provision of Article 2. As the trial court correctly found, damages that are "uncertain, contingent, or speculative . . . cannot be recovered in any action ex contractu or ex delicto." (R. at 23 (quoting *United Merchants & Mfrs. v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, 113 F. Supp. 257, 261 (W.D.S.C. 1953)).

Furthermore, Appellant's argument that the Supply Agreement's indemnification provision provides an independent basis for damages is a red herring. (Appellant's Initial Br. 36-37.) The indemnification provision requires CreatiVasc to "indemnify and hold harmless Sealevel . . . from and against any and all Damages" arising from third-party claims, not from

CreatiVasc's own alleged breach. (R. at 739-40 ¶ 13.) This provision is a standard third-party indemnification clause, not a general damages clause expanding the remedies available for breach.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DIRECTING A VERDICT ON SEALEVEL'S QUANTUM MERUIT CLAIM.

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